10101010010









Mini Review Zebrafish small molecule screens: Taking the phenotypic plunge

Charles H. Williams^a, Charles C. Hong^{a,b,c,d,e,*}

^a Department of Cell and Developmental Biology, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN 37232, USA

^b Department of Medicine, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN 37232, USA

^c Department of Pharmacology, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN 37232, USA

^d Vanderbilt Institute of Chemical Biology, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN 37232, USA

^e Research Medicine, Veterans Affairs Tennessee Valley Healthcare System, Nashville, TN 37212, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history Received 27 June 2016 Received in revised form 12 September 2016 Accepted 13 September 2016 Available online 18 September 2016

Keywords: High-throughput screening Whole-organism screening Phenotypic screening Phenome-wide association study Target based chemical screens are a mainstay of modern drug discovery, but the effectiveness of this reductionist approach is being questioned in light of declines in pharmaceutical R & D efficiency. In recent years, phenotypic screens have gained increasing acceptance as a complementary/alternative approach to early drug discovery. We discuss the various model organisms used in phenotypic screens, with particular focus on zebrafish, which has emerged as a leading model of *in vivo* phenotypic screens. Additionally, we anticipate therapeutic opportunities, particularly in orphan disease space, in the context of rapid advances in human Mendelian genetics, electronic health record (EHR)-enabled genome-phenome associations, and genome editing.

Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction					
2.	Phenotypic screening modalities					
3.	Zebrafish screens					
	3.1. Morphological					
	3.2. Therapeutic					
	3.3. Pathway					
	3.4. Behavioral					
4.	Bevond discovery					
5.	Next steps: Genomics and drug discovery					
Disclosure						
Acknowledgements						
References						

1. Introduction

For much of human history, therapies for various ailments came about from astute phenotypic observations and serendipity [31]. For instance, the origins of digoxin, a cardiac glycoside currently in use for heart failure, can be traced directly to a traditional herbal remedy for dropsy made from the foxglove plant [37]. With the advent of modern biochemistry and molecular biology, drug discovery became dependent on the target-based approach to systematically screen for thousands and even millions of agents that modulate a particular biological target chosen based on a rational therapeutic hypothesis. In the decades that followed, an unprecedented number of new therapeutics have transformed modern medicine and pharmaceutical industry [21]. However, despite the disproportionate focus and funding on target based approaches for the past two decades, the pharmaceutical industry as a whole delivered fewer "first-in-class" drugs using this approach than using a phenotypic approach [56]. In fact, the cost, and the risks, of developing a new pharmaceutical entity have skyrocketed in the

^{*} Corresponding author at: Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, 2220 Pierce Ave., PRB 383, Nashville, TN 37232, USA.

E-mail address: charles.c.hong@vanderbilt.edu (C.C. Hong).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2016.09.001

^{2001-0370/} Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

recent decades, with the costs of developing a new drug seeming to grow exponentially, a trend termed "Eroom's Law", to contrast with the Moore's Law describing exponential growth in computing power [51]. There are a number of reasons for this alarming decline in efficiency of pharmaceutical development. Obvious reasons include unforeseen off-target effects and toxic metabolites that result in deleterious effects in humans. While late stage failure in clinical trials captures headlines, a key reason for the sustained decline in productivity may lie in the earliest stages of drug discovery: specifically, poor target selection. For an industry grown around target-based discovery, picking a wrong target based on an invalid therapeutic hypothesis can be a death knell, a situation made worse by the fact that consequences might not be apparent until significant expenditure of time and effort. There are numerous causes of poor target selection, but chief among them appears to inadequate insight into human pathophysiology provided by in vitro and preclinical models [2,70].

Given the pitfalls of target-based screening, phenotypic screening has reemerged as an attractive alternative and complementary approach to drug discovery. As the name implies, this approach focuses on phenotypic perturbations - observable changes in complex biological function caused by small molecules - to identify chemical modulators of physiological or disease processes in a target-agnostic manner. The observed phenotype results from integration of all cellular pathway perturbations in the context of an active biological system, be it an individual cell or an entire organism. A phenotypic screen, by definition, identifies chemotypes that affect a biologically meaningful target or targets, including key nodes responsible for integrating cell pathways and behaviors. Importantly, since a phenotypic screen is conducted without regard to a priori knowledge of targets, it has the potential to discover new therapeutic targets, which may have greater impact at the systems level than established targets. Moreover, in contrast to target-based screens, a phenotypic screen permits discovery of compounds that affect a desired outcome *via* engaging multiple targets in a synergistic manner that may not have been otherwise anticipated. Indeed, recent studies have shown that polypharmacology is not necessarily deleterious, and that engagement of multiple targets can sometime be more effective for treatment of certain disease [50]. While a knowledge of the precise pharmacological target is traditionally considered essential, although not required by the FDA, to push a drug development forward; there is increasing willingness to be target agnostic provided there is a compelling biological rationale and an unmet medical need [32].

In contrast to traditional observational approaches, which were lowthroughput and therefore depended on serendipity, the modern phenotypic screen combines the advantages of phenotype-based approaches with the latest high-throughput chemical screening capabilities. In this review, we will provide a brief overview of various models used in phenotypic screens, with a focus on zebrafish based screens, which has emerged as a powerful *in vivo* model amenable to high-throughput and high-content analyses, and a look to the future of phenotypic screening.

2. Phenotypic screening modalities

Modalities of phenotypic screens can be broken into two components: the biological model and the assay outputs. These two factors must be considered prior to any screen. A number of model systems have been used in phenotypic screening, ranging from single cells, to organoids and whole organisms.

Cell based screens vary in scope of potential readouts from a simple cell viability assay to complex cell behavior analyses. At the simple end of the spectrum, most screens for potential anti-cancer agents are cell viability assays using established cancer cell lines [53]. At the complex end, Lum and colleagues have screened small molecules in HCT116 human colorectal cancer cells using multiplexed luciferase assays and dot blotting to monitor multiple pathways simultaneously [25]. By

assessing multiple pathways in a quantitative manner, they were able to collapse the cellular phenotypes elicited by individual compounds into a "fingerprint." Traditionally, determining mechanism of action (MOA) can be laborious, however; such an approach provides mechanistic insights by clustering compound induced "fingerprints" to those obtained from an siRNA library [24]. Cell based screens have also been conducted in an image based analytics paradigm. Peppard and colleagues identified novel autophagy regulators in HeLa cells expressing LC3 (microtubule-associated protein light chain3)-GFP (green fluorescent protein) fusion protein as an autophagy readout. LC3 is normally cytosolic, however during autophagy is recruited to autophagosomal membranes, which manifest as GFP granules in this read out. When nutrient starved cells are treated with lysomotropic agent hydroxychloroquine (HC), which inhibits the lysosome, LC3-GFP degradation by autophagy is blocked. Using HCS imager Incell 3000, a 250,000 compound screen was conducted to identify inhibitors of the formation of autophagosomes, which was thresholded as <4 GFP granules [42] Notably, the authors validated this assay with wortmannin, a known inhibitor of autophagosome formation and used this as a positive control to set the threshold.

While most cell based screens have been conducted in established cell lines grown in simple monolayers or suspension, investigators have developed 3-D organoid models of tumor cells, with the aim of developing an *in vitro* model that is more relevant to human tumor biology, including the role of metabolically quiescent tumor stem cells and the effect of hypoxia gradient within solid tumors. For instance, Walsh and colleagues have developed a model of spheroids derived from primary human tumors, utilizing intrinsic fluorescence properties of FAD and NADH called optical metabolic imaging (OMI). OMI has previously been shown to serve as an early endpoint biomarker for drug response [60]. Using this technique the authors carried out a screen for small molecules that altered metabolic activity of tumor spheroids [61].

In the past few years, human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) have emerged as a promising human biological platform for phenotypic screening. Since their initial description less than a decade ago, researchers have created iPSC models of a myriad of human diseases using patient-derived iPSCs [58]. For example, Burkhardt and colleagues have generated hiPSC from ALS patients and demonstrated that neurons differentiated from these hiPSCs exhibit TDP-43 aggregation, a pathological hallmark of ALS. Using an image-based screen based on TDP-43 aggregation in neurons generated from ALS hiPSCs, they discovered that known small molecule inhibitors of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, GSK3 and CDK could ameliorate this phenotype, providing supporting not only for prior studies that have implicated these proteins as potential ALS therapeutic targets but also the use of patient-derived iPSCs for drug discoverg [4].

Cell based screens, while providing an inexpensive, quantitative and high throughput platform for phenotypic screening, suffer from several disadvantages. Despite advances in engineered tissue constructs, cultured cells do not exist in a native biological context and lack critical tissue interactions and paracrine factors which clearly play an important role *in vivo*. Compound liabilities such as poor metabolic stability, suboptimal bioavailability and undesirable off-target as well as on-target effects are not recognized early on during the primary screen. Such issues can be addressed from the start with *in vivo* chemical screening of living organisms and whole animals. Thus far, large-scale *in vivo* phenotypic screens have been conducted in various model multicellular organisms ranging from nematode such as *C. elegans* to vertebrates such as zebrafish.

For instance, Petraschek and colleagues have performed a small molecule screen for compounds that affect aging in the nematode. From this screen, they identified 60 compounds that increase *C. elegans* lifespan without obvious deleterious effects. Concordant with existing genetic models of aging, over half of the hit compounds increased the animal's resistance to oxidative stress [71]. Importantly,

this screen revealed a large number of candidate targets that are conserved in humans and hence represent potential therapeutic targets to slow aging. Of course, *C. elegans* is still a very simple animal organism, with a rudimentary physiology, lacking for instance discrete circulatory system. Moreover, *C. elegans* has a very short life cycle (approximately 3.5 days) and each adult hermaphrodite has precisely 959 cells, making them less suitable for modeling certain diseases like cancer. Finally, due to their substantial evolutionary divergence from man (Fig. 1), the targets of small molecules identified in invertebrates like *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* may not be conserved in man and even then the human orthologs may have divergent functions, making phenotypic screens using invertebrates less than ideal for drug discovery.

3. Zebrafish screens

We believe that zebrafish represent a "sweet spot" for large-scale phenotypic screens in terms of biological complexity, physiologic similarities to humans, small size and fecundity. Zebrafish are also far less costly to maintain in large numbers necessary to conduct a largescale screen than mammals like mice. Although zebrafish have many important physiological differences from humans, they have numerous similarities such homologous organ systems and complex tissue architectures. Moreover, the majority of the functional domains of human proteins and zebrafish orthologs are highly conserved; many, if not a majority, of the small molecules discovered in zebrafish screens should have identical or closely related targets, in man. The first proof of principle that zebrafish could be useful for a large-scale in vivo phenotype screen came from a study that was conducted by Peterson and colleagues in 2000. In this study, the authors demonstrated that zebrafish embryos can be arrayed and screened in a 96-well format, and that small molecules which affected embryonic development and body patterning could be identified based on discrete perturbations to various anatomic structures [43]. Moreover, given the rapid development of zebrafish, which have a functional circulatory system by 24-hour post fertilization (hpf) and free swimming larvae by 72-hpf, the timeframe required for a phenotypic readout is similar to many cell based assays. Sixteen years since this landmark study, dozens, if not hundreds, of chemical screens have been carried out in zebrafish [45]. The phenotypic screens can be broadly be categorized into four major types by assay output: morphological, therapeutic, pathway and behavioral [66]. These four categories cover the majority of assays that have been performed in zebrafish and are meant to serve as a general framework for discussion of different assay types, rather than be comprehensive or mutually exclusive. Screens for compounds that modulate a diverse range of form and function, such as regeneration, lipid absorption and angiogenesis [45], while not specifically discussed here can be considered within the frame of the four categories.

3.1. Morphological

As the name indicates, the morphological screen involves identification of hit compounds based on their ability to cause specific and reproducible morphologic deviations from normal. The main feature of the morphology-based approach is the variable data depth of the screen, since they are by definition multi-dimensional [66]. The screener has the choice between obtaining "shallower data" by focusing exclusively on a single anatomical feature to "deeper data" to detect any discernable morphologic changes throughout the embryo. In a screen for compounds that result in altered dorsoventral (DV) patterning, we used tail length as a primary endpoint [72], since embryos with dorsalized pattern have grossly shortened, twisted tail [33]. This single point screen has resulted in the discovery of dorsomorphin, the first small molecule inhibitor of the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) pathway [72] as well as a Wnt pathway modulator [13]. Even when focused on a single feature, the phenotypic screen can obtain additional information, increasing data depth. For example, Colanesi and colleagues performed a chemical screen looking specifically at the pigmentation of zebrafish embryo. From this simple phenotypic screen, they could subdivide the hit compound into 10 categories based on specific pigmentation alterations; these included reduced numbers of iridiophores and/or melanophores, changes in color depth in either cell type, ectopic numbers of chromatophores, abnormal shape of melanophores and so on [9].

Since the zebrafish embryo is transparent, the screener can simultaneously score for specific changes to a predefined morphologic feature and any morphologic changes in the rest of the body. We adopted this "all comer" approach to identify a novel hedgehog pathway inhibitor and a lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptor inhibitor [12,52,67,68]. Importantly, because this screening approach is unbiased with respect to pathways and targets, it has the potential to allow discovery of novel mechanistic insights to regulation of pathways involved in embryonic development. Moreover, since it is open to all possible morphologic perturbations, the depth of phenomic data acquired is limited only by technology related to high-content image analysis. In addition, morphological screens are not limited to anatomical features visible by standard microscopy. For example, multiple groups have utilized transgenic fish expressing fluorescent markers in the endothelium to identify compounds that perturb the vasculature [47,59]. Similarly, others have utilized transgenic fish expressing a fluorescent marker in cardiomyocytes to screen for compounds that effect both heart

	C. elegans	D. melanogaster	D. rerio	M. musculus	HiPSC
Generation Time	3–5 days	10–14 days	3–4 months	6–8 weeks	NA
Brood size	250-300	80-300	100-300	5-8	NA
Media	Solid or liquid	Solid	Liquid	N/A	Liquid
Number of Genes	~19,000	~14,000	~26,000	~20,000	~20,000
Genome size (million bases)	100	140	1,400	2,000	3,200
Evolutionary Divergence	000	000	450	00	0
from Man (million years)	990	990	450	90	0
AA identity hALK2	35	57	70	98	100
Cost per plate (\$)	<1	<1	~1	5790*	20-1000**
Relative throughput/ easy of scalability	++++	+++	+++	+	++++

Fig. 1. Comparison of model organisms used in phenotypic screens. Commonly accepted numbers for generation time and brood size are listed, along with media for animal maintenance, evolutionary divergence, gene number and genome size [29]. Also listed, the evolutionary divergence from man and the amino acid sequence identity to the human BMP receptor ALK2 (hALK2). Unit cost: approximate cost of animals needed to screen a 96-well plate of compound libraries, in triplicate. *For mice, this is the approximate cost to purchase 288 mice from Jackson Labs. **Cost of iPSC varies significantly depending on differentiated cell type, culture methods and screening conditions. Relative throughput/ease of scalability: ++++, very high (close to *in vitro* HTS); +++, high (up to tens of thousands compounds/week); +, low (up to hundreds of compounds/week).

structure and function [5,35]. It is also possible to conduct a fairly largescale screen involving *in situ* hybridizations to screen for compounds that perturb expression patterns of a cell or tissue marker. For example, Zon and colleagues carried out an *in situ* hybridization-based screen to identify small molecules, such as leflunomide, which affect *crestin*expressing neural crest cell development [65].

By definition, the morphology based screens are flexible, compatible with many derivations to discover small molecules that perturb many cell types and anatomical structures. Morphologic screens also serve as starting points for finding molecules that affect cell behaviors as well; for example looking at the quantity and location of leukocytes or neutrophils at a singular time point after tail resection provides information about where those cells are located, as seen by Liu et al., and Robertson et al. From here the authors used secondary assays to identify compounds that modulate the migration of these cells [28,49]. An obvious shortcoming of the morphology-based screen is the lack of direct therapeutic relevance; nevertheless, the discovery of dorsomorphin by this approach has directly contributed to new therapeutic strategies for numerous human diseases such as heterotopic ossification, anemia, IBD, and cancers [15–17,39,40,62] and has spawned several ongoing drug development programs.

3.2. Therapeutic

The therapeutic screen uses zebrafish with a disease phenotype to identify small molecules that specifically ameliorate this phenotype. In contrast to the morphological screen in which deviations from norm are the "hit" criteria, in this category, a return towards the normal phenotype would be a "hit". In the first of such therapeutic screens in zebrafish, Peterson and colleagues used the gridlock mutant, a zebrafish model of aortic coarctation lacking normal tail circulation at 24 to 48hpf, to identify small molecules which restored tail circulation [44]. Similarly, Peal and colleagues used the breakdance mutant, a zebrafish model of Long QT proarrhythmic syndrome due to a mutation in the KCNH2 potassium channel, to screen for compounds that ameliorate the proarrhythmic phenotype. In a relatively small screen of 1200 compounds, they identified two compounds that restored normal heart beating and therefore have potential as anti-arrhythmic agents [41]. In addition, other human disease models, such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), have been successfully screened for compounds that suppressed the disease phenotypes [20].

Therapeutic screens have been successfully carried out in nongenetic disease models as well. Cardiomyopathy is a relatively common serious sequela of cancer treatment with the chemotherapeutic doxorubicin. Peterson and colleagues developed a zebrafish model of doxorubin-induced cardiomyopathy, and conducted a counter-screen for cardioprotective compounds [27]. Of the 3000 screened compounds, they discovered two, visnagin and diphenylurea, which protected cardiac function without mitigating the chemotherapeutic effects. In a similar manner, the Peterson group also screened for chemoprotectors against cyanide poisoning, and identified four potential antidotes [34]. In a search for candidate compounds that can accelerate recovery after acute kidney injury (AK), Cianciolo Cosentino et al. screened for small molecules that increase proliferation of renal progenitor cells in zebrafish embryos [6]. This screen identified histone deacetylase inhibitor methyl-4-(phenylthio)butanoate (PTBA), which enhanced recovery after acute kidney injury [6] and reduced postinjury renal fibrosis in mice [54]. Finally, investigators have developed Mycobacterium marinum infection and human carcinoma xenograft models in zebrafish [19,57]. These two models allow for identification of compound that selectively kill pathogen or tumor cells without affecting the health and viability of zebrafish. The paradigm of therapeutic screening in zebrafish is attractive because of its immediate therapeutic relevance. While such screens show promise, using the correct model for screening is critically important to ensure the validity of the therapeutic target. With the ease of genetic editing through CRISPR/Cas9, this platform would be particularly well suited for monogenic diseases with well understood pathophysiology, as zebrafish based models could be rapidly developed and screened.

3.3. Pathway

The pathway screen involves identification of hit compounds based on their ability to perturb the function of a specific pathway of interest. As with other phenotypic screens, the assay is unbiased with respect to a particular molecular target; however, it limits the scope of potential targets as the hit must interact with a specific pathway in a measurable manner. This modality relies on pathway-specific read outs in the zebrafish. One of the first pathway screens in zebrafish was conducted by Molina and colleagues. In this study, the authors took advantage of the fact that gene expression of dual specific phosphatase-6 (dusp6), a feedback regulator of FGF (fibroblast growth factor) signaling, is itself a robust reporter of FGF pathway activations. They used a transgenic zebrafish expressing a destabilized GFP expressed under the control of a dusp6 promoter. In this platform, the GFP fluorescence intensity provides quantitative read out of the signaling activity [30]. From this screen, Molina and colleagues identified a compound (E)-2benzylidene-3-(cyclohexylamino)-2,3-dihydro-1H-inden-1-one (BCI), and used chemical genetic epistasis and computational approaches to show that the compound targeted dusp6 itself. One drawback of GFP reporters in zebrafish is that quantification of fluorescence can be difficult given the dynamic nature of the transgene expression pattern and that the orientation of the zebrafish in a well can dramatically affect the apparent signal intensive. To address some of these issues, in vivo luciferase reporter fish lines have been developed [1,64].

Finally, a single assay could have a combination of morphological, therapeutic and pathway outputs For example, in the axin mutant embryos, ectopic activation of the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling results in an eyeless phenotype [63], and the *axin* mutant phenotype can be recapitulated with BIO, an inhibitor of GSK3 β , a key component of the β catenin destruction complex inhibitor. Moreover, windorphen, a canonical Wnt pathway inhibitor, can rescue the eyeless phenotype in axin mutants [13]. Using this Wnt pathway-specific morphologic phenotype as a read out, Nishiya and colleagues conducted a chemical suppression screen and discovered that GGTI-286, a geranylgeranyltransferase 1 (GGTase I) inhibitor, could block canonical Wnt signaling downstream of the β -catenin destruction complex [36]. In the developing zebrafish embryo, individual pathways do not exist in isolation; therefore, a phenotypic screen designed to interrogate one signaling pathway may lead to serendipitous and sometimes context specific interaction with other pathways.

3.4. Behavioral

One of the major unmet therapeutic areas is in neuropsychiatric diseases, for which many target based drug discovery efforts have failed. Such difficulties and the fact that many current neuropsychiatric medicines trace their roots to clinical observations on neurobehavioral effects of drugs originally intended for other indications have motivated investigators to consider behavioral screens to discover novel, and hopefully physiologically relevant, neuropsychiatric drug targets. For this, zebrafish larvae seem ideal since they are amenable to highthroughput chemical screens and they exhibit numerous complex behaviors reminiscent of some human behaviors. In one of the first behavior-based chemical screen in zebrafish, Rihel and colleagues screened over 5000 compounds for modulators of restfulness or wakefulness. This screen resulted in the identification of 463 unique structures that altered zebrafish behavior [48]. Of these compounds, known modulators of major neurotransmitters were found to recapitulate many of the behavioral effects observed in mammals. For example clonidine, a α 2-adrenergic receptor agonists used as a treatment for ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) and gaining use as a sedative, was found to also have sedating effects in zebrafish. Subsequent behavioral screens for compounds that modulate responses to photic and acoustic stimuli yielded compounds that not only modulate immediate responses to these stimuli, but also more complex behaviors such as habituation [22,69]. This technology has been expanded to a battery of tests to identify novel neuroactive compounds with a distinct behavioral profile, a "fingerprint," which can then be used to inform mechanism of action studies [3,46]. With ongoing advances in behavioral analysis algorithms, it may one day be possible to screen for compounds that modulate increasingly complex behaviors. Given difficulties in developing drugs for neuropsychiatric diseases by targeted approaches, zebrafish-based behavioral screens represent a bold new path for this important unmet medical need as well as opportunities to improve our understanding of animal behavior.

4. Beyond discovery

While still relatively new, the impact of zebrafish-based chemical screens has been notable. In the past decade, the rate of published zebrafish screens has risen steadily, with an average impact factor of 9.5, as of 2013 [45]. While dissemination of knowledge through the publication of a chemical screen is the primary goal for academics, a secondary, implicit goal is therapeutic discovery, ultimately to impact human health. Among a number of compounds originally identified in zebrafish chemical screens with therapeutic potential, several have resulted in industry partnerships for preclinical and clinical development.

For instance, Oricula Therapeutics is developing Proto-1 for prevention of hearing loss, Novo Biosciences is developing a metalloproteinase-13 (MMP13) inhibitor for peripheral neuropathy, and La Jolla Pharmaceuticals is developing BMP receptor inhibitors for fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP) and other rare diseases. The most advanced therapeutic lead resulting from a zebrafish screen is the PGE2 inhibitor Prohema [38], which has shown promising results in a randomized, controlled Phase II study of patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation for the treatment of hematologic malignancies [11]. Given these early successes, it seems reasonable to anticipate that there will be many more therapeutic leads resulting from zebrafish chemical screens in the coming decades.

5. Next steps: Genomics and drug discovery

There are currently about 7000 known rare diseases in man, and roughly 4000 of these have been linked to a single genetic cause [26,55]. Some, like familial hypercholesterolemia, are fairly common, found in 1 in 500 individuals, while other are extremely rare like fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP), found in 1 in 2 million individuals. Taken together, about 10% of the US population is estimated to be afflicted with a rare disease, representing a significant healthcare burden [14]. Of the disease associated genes in the Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM) database, 82% have at least one zebrafish ortholog [18]. With the advances in genome editing technology, such as the clustered regularly interspaced short



Fig. 2. Proposed zebrafish phenotypic screens incorporating human genome-phenome information to accelerate therapeutic discovery. Human genome-phenome information provided by electronic health record (EHR)-coupled DNA database and by human genetic diseases studies drive formulation of therapeutic hypotheses ("human biology-based therapeutic hypotheses"). To test these hypotheses, zebrafish models of human genetic diseases are generated by genomic editing and employed in phenotypic screen for novel or known compounds which ameliorate the disease phenotypes. These compounds are then advanced for further development, including compound optimization and testing in appropriate preclinical disease models. Alternatively, a target-agnostic morphology-based screen is carried out. Subsequently, targets of hit compounds identified, and each target evaluated *in silico* against human genome-phenome database to determine whether a viable therapeutic hypothesis can be formulated. If so, these hits are advanced for further development, including compound optimization and testing in appropriate preclinical disease models.

palindromic repeats CRISPR/Cas9 nuclease technique, it is now feasible to generate zebrafish models of virtually all human Mendelian diseases (Fig. 2). Once a disease phenotype or a surrogate phenotype is established in zebrafish mutants, a therapeutic screen for compounds that ameliorate these phenotypes should be straightforward. With the advances in genomic sequencing technologies, the number of ultra-rare genetic diseases is expected to increase significantly in the coming decade. In such a scenario, one can easily envision harnessing the power of zebrafish phenotypic screens, perhaps using a panel of known bioactive small molecules or FDA approved drugs, to help accelerate drug discovery and repurposing efforts for rare genetic diseases (Fig. 2).

A unique advantage of phenotypic screens is the discovery of novel, previously unrecognized components involved in a biological process or a disease pathophysiology, and chemical tools to modulate them. However, the discovery of new pharmacological targets and new pharmacological classes by themselves do not ameliorate the most important reason for the high rate of failure in drug development: uncertainties associated with target selection. Based on the first principles, the risks associated with target selection are inherently lower for human Mendelian conditions. For instance, the knowledge that rare individuals lacking proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) have better lipid profiles and are protected from atherosclerosis and myocardial infarctions was an important factor in rapid development and approval of PCSK9 inhibitor for treatment of hypercholesterolemia [7,8,23,73]. But the power of human genetics need not stop with rare Mendelian conditions. At Vanderbilt University Medical Center (VUMC), a large human DNA repository, named BioVU, has been linked to de-identified electronic health records (EHR) within the Synthetic Derivative (SD) database. Using BioVU as a human genome-phenome analysis platform, a phenome-wide association study (PheWAS) can be carried out to determine what clinical phenotypes are associated with single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in a given gene (Fig. 2;[10]). Using this approach, we not only identified potential new indications of our small molecule BMP inhibitors but also potential on-target side effects, which will be valuable for eventual clinical trials and post-marketing surveillance (CCH, personal communication).

How might zebrafish-based phenotypic screens leverage the power of human genetics to accelerate drug discovery? As discussed above, zebrafish models of human Mendelian genetics can be used to carry out therapeutic screens for compounds that ameliorate the disease phenotype (Fig. 2). Alternatively, a novel pharmacological target identified in unbiased morphologic screens can be interrogated by phenome–genome databases such as BioVU to determine whether alterations in that gene are associated with a disease phenotype and/ or therapeutic effects, dramatically lowering the risks of a drug development program (Fig. 2). If carried out on a large scale, such efforts might dramatically accelerate drug discovery and repurposing efforts to meet the anticipated need for targeted therapies for rare and common diseases (Fig. 2). In summary, zebrafish is a versatile platform that has a bright future as a drug discovery tool in the Era of Personalized Medicines.

Disclosure

C.C.H. holds patents and patent applications on composition of matter and methods of use of small molecule BMP inhibitors.

Acknowledgements

This work was partly supported by the United States National Institutes of Health grants HL104040 and GM118557, the Veterans Administration Merit Grant BX000771 to C.C.H.

References

- Becker JR, Robinson TY, Sachidanandan C, Kelly AE, Coy S, Peterson RT, MacRae CA. In vivo natriuretic peptide reporter assay identifies chemical modifiers of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy signalling. Cardiovasc Res 2012:93:463–70.
- [2] Bracken MB. Why animal studies are often poor predictors of human reactions to exposure. J R Soc Med 2009;102:120–2.
- [3] Bruni G, Rennekamp AJ, Velenich A, McCarroll M, Gendelev L, Fertsch E, Taylor J, Lakhani P, Lensen D, Evron T, et al. Zebrafish behavioral profiling identifies multitarget antipsychotic-like compounds. Nat Chem Biol 2016;12:559–66.
- [4] Burkhardt MF, Martinez FJ, Wright S, Ramos C, Volfson D, Mason M, Garnes J, Dang V, Lievers J, Shoukat-Mumtaz U, et al. A cellular model for sporadic ALS using patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 2013;56:355–64.
- [5] Burns CG, Milan DJ, Grande EJ, Rottbauer W, MacRae CA, Fishman MC. Highthroughput assay for small molecules that modulate zebrafish embryonic heart rate. Nat Chem Biol 2005;1:263–4.
- [6] Cianciolo Cosentino C, Skrypnyk NI, Brilli LL, Chiba T, Novitskaya T, Woods C, West J, Korotchenko VN, McDermott L, Day BW, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor enhances recovery after AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol 2013;24:943–53.
- [7] Cohen J, Pertsemlidis A, Kotowski IK, Graham R, Garcia CK, Hobbs HH. Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet 2005;37:161–5.
- [8] Cohen JC, Boerwinkle E, Mosley TH, Hobbs HH. Sequence variations in PCSK9, low LDL, and protection against coronary heart disease. N Engl | Med 2006;354:1264–72.
- [9] Colanesi S, Taylor KL, Temperley ND, Lundegaard PR, Liu D, North TE, Ishizaki H, Kelsh RN, Patton EE. Small molecule screening identifies targetable zebrafish pigmentation pathways. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 2012;25:131–43.
- [10] Denny JC, Bastarache L, Roden DM. Phenome-wide association studies as a tool to advance precision medicine. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2016;17:353–73.
- [11] Fate Therapeutics. Fate therapeutics provides update on adoptive immunotherapy programs for hematopoietic cell transplantation (NASDAQ:FATE); 2016.
- [12] Hao J, Williams CH, Webb ME, Hong CC. Large scale zebrafish-based in vivo small molecule screen. J Vis Exp 2010;46 pii:2243.
- [13] Hao J, Ao A, Zhou L, Murphy CK, Frist AY, Keel JJ, Thorne CA, Kim K, Lee E, Hong CC. Selective small molecule targeting β-catenin function discovered by in vivo chemical genetic screen. Cell Rep 2013;4:898–904.
- [14] Heemstra HE, van Weely S, Büller HA, Leufkens HGM, de Vrueh RLA. Translation of rare disease research into orphan drug development: disease matters. Drug Discov Today 2009;14:1166–73.
- [15] Hong CC, Yu PB. Applications of small molecule BMP inhibitors in physiology and disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2009;20:409–18.
- [16] Hover LD, Young CD, Bhola NE, Wilson AJ, Khabele D, Hong CC, Moses HL, Owens P. Small molecule inhibitor of the bone morphogenetic protein pathway DMH1 reduces ovarian cancer cell growth. Cancer Lett 2015;368:79–87.
- [17] Hover LD, Owens P, Munden AL, Wang J, Chambless LB, Hopkins CR, Hong CC, Moses HL, Abel TW. Bone morphogenetic protein signaling promotes tumorigenesis in a murine model of high-grade glioma. Neuro Oncol 2016;18:928–38.
- [18] Howe K, Clark MD, Torroja CF, Torrance J, Berthelot C, Muffato M, Collins JE, Humphray S, McLaren K, Matthews L, et al. The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. Nature 2013;496:498–503.
- [19] Jung D-W, Oh E-S, Park S-H, Chang Y-T, Kim C-H, Choi S-Y, Williams DR. A novel zebrafish human tumor xenograft model validated for anti-cancer drug screening. Mol Biosyst 2012;8:1930–9.
- [20] Kawahara G, Kunkel LM. Zebrafish based small molecule screens for novel DMD drugs. Drug Discov Today Technol 2013;10:e91–6.
- [21] Kinch MS, Haynesworth A, Kinch SL, Hoyer D. An overview of FDA-approved new molecular entities: 1827–2013. Drug Discov Today 2014;19:1033–9.
- [22] Kokel D, Peterson RT. Using the zebrafish photomotor response for psychotropic drug screening. Methods Cell Biol 2011;105:517–24.
- [23] Kotowski IK, Pertsemlidis A, Luke A, Cooper RS, Vega GL, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. A spectrum of PCSK9 alleles contributes to plasma levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Am J Hum Genet 2006;78:410–22.
- [24] Kulak O, Lum L. A multiplexed luciferase-based screening platform for interrogating cancer-associated signal transduction in cultured cells. J Vis Exp 2013;77:e50369.
- [25] Kulak O, Yamaguchi K, Lum L. Identification of therapeutic small-molecule leads in cultured cells using multiplexed pathway reporter readouts. Methods Mol Biol 2015;1263:3–14.
- [26] Lander ES. Brave new genome. N Engl J Med 2015;373:5-8.
- [27] Liu Y, Asnani A, Zou L, Bentley VL, Yu M, Wang Y, Dellaire G, Sarkar KS, Dai M, Chen HH, et al. Visnagin protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy through modulation of mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase. Sci Transl Med 2014;6: 266ra170.
- [28] Liu Y-J, Fan H-B, Jin Y, Ren C-G, Jia X-E, Wang L, Chen Y, Dong M, Zhu K-Y, Dong Z-W, et al. Cannabinoid receptor 2 suppresses leukocyte inflammatory migration by modulating the JNK/c-Jun/Alox5 pathway. J Biol Chem 2013;288:13551–62.
- [29] Milo R, Phillips R. Cell biology by the numbers. New York, NY: Garland Science; 2015.
- [30] Molina G, Vogt A, Bakan A, Dai W, Queiroz de Oliveira P, Znosko W, Smithgall TE, Bahar I, Lazo JS, Day BW, et al. Zebrafish chemical screening reveals an inhibitor of Dusp6 that expands cardiac cell lineages. Nat Chem Biol 2009;5:680–7.
- [31] Mueller RL, Scheidt S. History of drugs for thrombotic disease. Discovery, development, and directions for the future. Circulation 1994;89:432–49.
- [32] Mullard A. The phenotypic screening pendulum swings. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2015; 14:807–9.
- [33] Mullins MC, Hammerschmidt M, Kane DA, Odenthal J, Brand M, van Eeden FJ, Furutani-Seiki M, Granato M, Haffter P, Heisenberg CP, et al. Genes establishing

dorsoventral pattern formation in the zebrafish embryo: the ventral specifying genes. Development 1996;123:81–93.

- [34] Nath AK, Roberts LD, Liu Y, Mahon SB, Kim S, Ryu JH, Werdich A, Januzzi JL, Boss GR, Rockwood GA, et al. Chemical and metabolomic screens identify novel biomarkers and antidotes for cyanide exposure. FASEB J 2013;27:1928–38.
- [35] Ni TT, Rellinger EJ, Mukherjee A, Xie S, Stephens L, Thorne CA, Kim K, Hu J, Lee E, Marnett L, et al. Discovering small molecules that promote cardiomyocyte generation by modulating Wnt signaling. Chem Biol 2011;18:1658–68.
- [36] Nishiya N, Oku Y, Kumagai Y, Sato Y, Yamaguchi E, Sasaki A, Shoji M, Ohnishi Y, Okamoto H, Uehara Y. A zebrafish chemical suppressor screening identifies small molecule inhibitors of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Chem Biol 2014;21:530–40.
- [37] Norman JN. William withering and the purple foxglove: a bicentennial tribute. J Clin Pharmacol 1985;25:479–83.
- [38] North TE, Goessling W, Walkley CR, Lengerke C, Kopani KR, Lord AM, Weber GJ, Bowman TV, Jang I-H, Grosser T, et al. Prostaglandin E2 regulates vertebrate haematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. Nature 2007;447:1007–11.
- [39] Owens P, Polikowsky H, Pickup MW, Gorska AE, Jovanovic B, Shaw AK, Novitskiy SV, Hong CC, Moses HL. Bone morphogenetic proteins stimulate mammary fibroblasts to promote mammary carcinoma cell invasion. PLoS One 2013;8:e67533.
- [40] Owens P, Pickup MW, Novitskiy SV, Giltnane JM, Gorska AE, Hopkins CR, Hong CC, Moses HL. Inhibition of BMP signaling suppresses metastasis in mammary cancer. Oncogene 2015;34:2437–49.
- [41] Peal DS, Mills RW, Lynch SN, Mosley JM, Lim E, Ellinor PT, January CT, Peterson RT, Milan DJ. Novel chemical suppressors of long QT syndrome identified by an in vivo functional screen. Circulation 2011;123:23–30.
- [42] Peppard JV, Rugg C, Smicker M, Dureuil C, Ronan B, Flamand O, Durand L, Pasquier B. Identifying small molecules which inhibit autophagy: a phenotypic screen using image-based high-content cell analysis. Curr Chem Genom Transl Med 2014;8:3–15.
- [43] Peterson RT, Link BA, Dowling JE, Schreiber SL. Small molecule developmental screens reveal the logic and timing of vertebrate development. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2000;97:12965–9.
- [44] Peterson RT, Shaw SY, Peterson TA, Milan DJ, Zhong TP, Schreiber SL, MacRae CA, Fishman MC. Chemical suppression of a genetic mutation in a zebrafish model of aortic coarctation. Nat Biotechnol 2004;22:595–9.
- [45] Rennekamp AJ, Peterson RT. 15 years of zebrafish chemical screening. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2015;24:58–70.
- [46] Rennekamp AJ, Huang X-P, Wang Y, Patel S, Lorello PJ, Cade L, Gonzales APW, Yeh J-RJ, Caldarone BJ, Roth BL, et al. σ1 receptor ligands control a switch between passive and active threat responses. Nat Chem Biol 2016;12:552–8.
- [47] Reynolds AL, Alvarez Y, Sasore T, Waghorne N, Butler CT, Kilty C, Smith AJ, McVicar C, Wong VHY, Galvin O, et al. Phenotype-based discovery of 2-[(E)-2-(Quinolin-2yl)vinyl]phenol as a novel regulator of ocular angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 2016;291: 7242–55.
- [48] Rihel J, Prober DA, Arvanites A, Lam K, Zimmerman S, Jang S, Haggarty SJ, Kokel D, Rubin LL, Peterson RT, et al. Zebrafish behavioral profiling links drugs to biological targets and rest/wake regulation. Science 2010;327:348–51.
- [49] Robertson AL, Holmes GR, Bojarczuk AN, Burgon J, Loynes CA, Chimen M, Sawtell AK, Hamza B, Willson J, Walmsley SR, et al. A zebrafish compound screen reveals modulation of neutrophil reverse migration as an anti-inflammatory mechanism. Sci Transl Med 2014;6:225ra29.
- [50] Roth BL, Sheffler DJ, Kroeze WK. Magic shotguns versus magic bullets: selectively non-selective drugs for mood disorders and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2004;3:353–9.
- [51] Scannell JW, Blanckley A, Boldon H, Warrington B. Diagnosing the decline in pharmaceutical R&D efficiency. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012;11:191–200.
- [52] Shelton EL, Galindo CL, Williams CH, Pfaltzgraff E, Hong CC, Bader DM. Autotaxin signaling governs phenotypic heterogeneity in visceral and parietal mesothelia. PLoS One 2013;8:e69712.
- [53] Shoemaker RH. The NCI60 human tumour cell line anticancer drug screen. Nat Rev Cancer 2006;6:813–23.

- [54] Skrypnyk NI, Sanker S, Brilli-Skvarca L, Novitskaya T, Woods C, Chiba T, Patel K, Goldberg ND, McDermott L, Vinson PN, et al. Delayed treatment with PTBA analogs reduces post injury renal fibrosis after kidney injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2015 [ajprenal.00503.2015].
- [55] Stelzer G, Rosen N, Plaschkes I, Zimmerman S, Twik M, Fishilevich S, Stein TI, Nudel R, Lieder I, Mazor Y, et al. The GeneCards suite: from Gene data mining to disease genome sequence analyses. Curr Protoc Bioinformatics 2016;54:1.30.1–1.30.33 [Ed. Board Andreas Baxevanis Al].
- [56] Swinney DC, Anthony J. How were new medicines discovered? Nat Rev Drug Discov 2011;10:507–19.
- [57] Takaki K, Cosma CL, Troll MA, Ramakrishnan L. An in vivo platform for rapid highthroughput antitubercular drug discovery. Cell Rep 2012;2:175–84.
- [58] Tang S, Xie M, Cao N, Ding S. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells for disease modeling and phenotypic drug discovery. J Med Chem 2016;59:2–15.
- [59] Tran TC, Sneed B, Haider J, Blavo D, White A, Aiyejorun T, Baranowski TC, Rubinstein AL, Doan TN, Dingledine R, et al. Automated, quantitative screening assay for antiangiogenic compounds using transgenic zebrafish. Cancer Res 2007;67: 11386–92.
- [60] Walsh AJ, Cook RS, Manning HC, Hicks DJ, Lafontant A, Arteaga CL, Skala MC. Optical metabolic imaging identifies glycolytic levels, subtypes, and early-treatment response in breast cancer. Cancer Res 2013;73:6164–74.
- [61] Walsh AJ, Cook RS, Sanders ME, Aurisicchio L, Ciliberto G, Arteaga CL, Skala MC. Quantitative optical imaging of primary tumor organoid metabolism predicts drug response in breast cancer. Cancer Res 2014;74:5184–94.
- [62] Wang L, Trebicka E, Fu Y, Ellenbogen S, Hong CC, Babitt JL, Lin HY, Cherayil BJ. The bone morphogenetic protein-hepcidin axis as a therapeutic target in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012;18:112–9.
- [63] van de Water S, van de Wetering M, Joore J, Esseling J, Bink R, Clevers H, Zivkovic D. Ectopic Wnt signal determines the eyeless phenotype of zebrafish masterblind mutant. Development 2001;128:3877–88.
- [64] Weger BD, Weger M, Jung N, Lederer C, Bräse S, Dickmeis T. A chemical screening procedure for glucocorticoid signaling with a zebrafish larva luciferase reporter system. J Vis Exp 2013;79. http://dx.doi.org/10.3791/50439.
- [65] White RM, Cech J, Ratanasirintrawoot S, Lin CY, Rahl PB, Burke CJ, Langdon E, Tomlinson ML, Mosher J, Kaufman C, et al. DHODH modulates transcriptional elongation in the neural crest and melanoma. Nature 2011;471:518–22.
- [66] Williams CH, Hong CC. Multi-step usage of in vivo models during rational drug design and discovery. Int J Mol Sci 2011;12:2262–74.
- [67] Williams CH, Hong CC. High content screening for modulators of cardiovascular or global developmental pathways in zebrafish. Methods Mol Biol 2015;1263:167–74.
- [68] Williams CH, Hempel JE, Hao J, Frist AY, Williams MM, Fleming JT, Sulikowski GA, Cooper MK, Chiang C, Hong CC. An in vivo chemical genetic screen identifies phosphodiesterase 4 as a pharmacological target for hedgehog signaling inhibition. Cell Rep 2015;11:43–50.
- [69] Wolman MA, Jain RA, Liss L, Granato M. Chemical modulation of memory formation in larval zebrafish. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011;108:15468–73.
- [70] van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, Macleod MR. Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med 2010;7:e1000245.
- [71] Ye X, Linton JM, Schork NJ, Buck LB, Petrascheck M. A pharmacological network for lifespan extension in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell 2014;13:206–15.
- [72] Yu PB, Hong CC, Sachidanandan C, Babitt JL, Deng DY, Hoyng SA, Lin HY, Bloch KD, Peterson RT. Dorsomorphin inhibits BMP signals required for embryogenesis and iron metabolism. Nat Chem Biol 2008;4:33–41.
- [73] Zhao Z, Tuakli-Wosornu Y, Lagace TA, Kinch L, Grishin NV, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Molecular characterization of loss-of-function mutations in PCSK9 and identification of a compound heterozygote. Am J Hum Genet 2006;79:514–23.